Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

# Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/neubiorev



# The contralateral delay activity as a neural measure of visual working memory



# Roy Luria<sup>a,b,\*</sup>, Halely Balaban<sup>a,b</sup>, Edward Awh<sup>c</sup>, Edward K. Vogel<sup>c</sup>

<sup>a</sup> The School of Psychological Sciences, Tel Aviv University, 6997801, Israel

<sup>b</sup> The Sagol School of Neuroscience, Tel Aviv University, 6997801, Israel

<sup>c</sup> Department of Psychology, University of Chicago, IL 60637, United States

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 17 July 2015 Received in revised form 10 September 2015 Accepted 11 January 2016 Available online 21 January 2016

Keywords: Contralateral delay activity Visual working memory Event related potentials

#### ABSTRACT

The contralateral delay activity (CDA) is a negative slow wave sensitive to the number of objects maintained in visual working memory (VWM). In recent years, a growing number of labs started to use the CDA in order to investigate VWM, leading to many fascinating discoveries. Here, we discuss the recent developments and contribution of the CDA in various research fields. Importantly, we report two metaanalyses that unequivocally validate the relationship between the set-size increase in the CDA amplitude and the individual VWM capacity, and between the CDA and filtering efficiency. We further discuss how the CDA was used to study the role of VWM in visual search, multiple object tracking, grouping, binding, and whether VWM capacity allocation is determined by the items' resolution or instead by the number of objects regardless of their complexity. In addition, we report how the CDA has been used to characterize specific VWM deficits in special populations.

© 2016 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	100
2.	A brief history	101
3.	The CDA as an index of VWM capacity	101
	3.1. The CDA as a difference wave	102
	3.2. Neural origin of the CDA	102
4.	Using the CDA to study VWM	104
	4.1. Filtering efficiency	104
	4.2. Visual search	104
	4.3. Multiple objects tracking	105
	4.4. Complexity and resolution	105
	4.5. Binding and grouping	105
5.	CDA as an index of WMC in special populations	106
6.	Summary	106
	Acknowledgements	106
	References	106

#### 1. Introduction

Visual working memory (VWM) is a limited workspace that can hold information online, ready to be accessed and

E-mail address: royluria@tauex.tau.ac.il (R. Luria).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.01.003 0149-7634/© 2016 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. manipulated by higher cognitive functions (Luck and Vogel, 2013). In recent years, there has been a growing use of electrophysiology to investigate VWM. Specifically, the contralateral delay activity (CDA), a negative slow wave whose amplitude corresponds to the number of objects maintained in VWM was extensively used, leading to many exciting and important results that have considerably advanced our understanding of how VWM processes information. The goals of this paper are to validate, unequivocally, the CDA as

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: The School of Psychological Sciences, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv 6997801, Israel.

a measure of VWM capacity, and to review the recent developments and contributions of the CDA in investigating how VWM operates.

# 2. A brief history

The first demonstration of a sustained EEG activity during working-memory retention interval was reported by Ruchkin et al. (1990, 1992). However, this activity could be also attributed to several non-mnemonic processes occurring during the retention interval (such as preparation, arousal or other attentional processes). A few years later, Klaver et al. (1999) observed a negative activity over posterior electrodes for an item that was presented either on the left or on the right side of fixation. This result did not receive much attention, presumably because in another condition, the authors presented two items on both sides of the fixation, observing only baseline activation, and this pattern was interpreted as indicating limited resource processing.

In 2004, Vogel and Machizawa (2004) capitalized on advances in the VWM field and developed a bi-lateral version of the changedetection paradigm. The bi-lateral presentation allows observing a more specific mnemonic related activity because it relies on a difference between an attended and a non-attended side (see Fig. 1). They observed a slow negative wave that persisted throughout the retention interval, and was sensitive to the number of objects maintained in memory. Shortly afterwards, the CDA was used to provide compelling evidence that individual difference in VWM capacity are related to the ability to filter out irrelevant information from the VWM limited workspace (Vogel et al., 2005). This research demonstrates the powerful arguments that can be derived by using the CDA as a marker for VWM capacity, conclusions that are otherwise inaccessible by means of behavioral measures only.

The CDA was first measured in the change detection paradigm during the retention interval, so that 'delay activity' seemed an appropriate terminology. In the following years, similar activity was observed in several other tasks and paradigms, not necessarily during the retention period, reflecting that working memory is involved in other functions than just online storage. Notably, several studies referred to the VWM activity as CNSW (Contralateral Negative Slow Wave, Klaver et al., 1999), SPCN (Sustained Posterior Contralateral Negativity, Brisson and Jolicoeur, 2007; Perron et al., 2009) and CSA (Contralateral Search Activity, Emrich et al., 2009). All of these abbreviations indicate the same VWM processes and the use of multiple names is obviously confusing. We will continue to use CDA for the rest of the paper.

In the last decade, there has been a growing use of the CDA leading to many exciting and important results. This review will try to summarize the recent developments and contributions of the CDA in investigating VWM. We will review evidence demonstrating the sensitivity of the CDA to the number of items represented in VWM, and its correlation with the individual VWM capacity. We then move to describe several research fields in which the CDA successfully improved our understanding of VWM.

# 3. The CDA as an index of VWM capacity

The most important characteristic of the CDA is that its amplitude increases according to the number of objects maintained in VWM. This set-size related rise in amplitude is not due to overall task difficulty, because the CDA amplitude reaches an asymptote at about 3–4 items, which is the usual estimate of working-memory capacity (Cowan, 2001; Luck and Vogel, 2013). Importantly, the CDA asymptote (defined as the further increase in amplitude beyond one or two items) was found to correlate with the individual VWM capacity, such that high capacity individuals show a larger increase in the CDA amplitude when more items are encoded, corroborating the increased storage and improved processing abilities of high capacity individuals. In order to better quantify this relationship between the CDA and the individual VWM capacity, we tracked 11 studies (Diamantopoulou et al., 2011; Drew and Vogel, 2008; Jost et al., 2011; Kang and Woodman, 2014; Kundu et al., 2013; Kuo et al., 2012; Lefebvre et al., 2013; Leonard et al., 2013; Stormer et al., 2013; Tsubomi et al., 2013; Vogel and Machizawa, 2004) that calculated a correlation between these variables on 12 subject samples, and performed a meta-analysis (see Fig. 2 a). The combined correlation was r = 0.596, and the 95% confidence interval between 0.510 and 0.670. In order to falsify this relationship (the fail-safe N measure, Orwin, 1983), 350 studies with an averaged zero correlation are needed. This is very strong evidence indicating that the CDA is sensitive to the number of objects maintained in VWM, since the increase in CDA amplitude as more items are added happens to a lesser extent for individuals with lower capacity.

A recent latent-variable study with 164 participants (Unsworth et al., 2014) found a correlation of -0.49 between the CDA amplitude and fluid intelligence, which is similar in magnitude to the correlation observed between behavioral VWM estimates and intelligence (Fukuda et al., 2010). To the best of our knowledge, this is the only reported correlation between any ERP component and fluid intelligence calculated at the factor level. Moreover, structural equation modeling revealed that individual differences in the CDA reflected both the ability to maintain distinct number of items and attentional control ability (i.e., the ability to select and protect targets and to filter out irrelevant distractors, see below).

Other studies have provided additional evidence validating the CDA as an index of VWM capacity. Notably, the CDA amplitude was significantly reduced on incorrect trials relative to trials with a correct response (McCollough et al., 2007), which is in line with the assumption that errors occur due to the loss of relevant information from VWM. In addition, it was demonstrated that the CDA amplitude is insensitive to low level visual attributes such as the distance between the objects (McCollough et al., 2007), or micro-saccades (Kang and Woodman, 2014).

Another potential confound is that typically each object is presented in a unique position on the screen, raising the possibility that the CDA tracks the number of spatial positions instead of the number of objects. In order to resolve this confound, the CDA amplitude was recoded in a condition in which four colors were presented sequentially (two colors followed by another pair of colors). The second color pair was presented either at the same spatial positions as the first two colors, or at different spatial positions. The CDA amplitude was identical in both cases, supporting the argument that the CDA corresponds to the number of objects and not to the number of spatial positions in VWM (Ikkai et al., 2010). Further support comes from studies showing that superimposing two items does not necessarily lead to a CDA amplitude equal to just one item (Balaban and Luria, 2015a; Luria and Vogel, 2014).

Several studies reported that manipulating the stimulus contrast in the change detection paradigm, while resulting in an impaired behavioral performance, did not have any effect on the CDA (Gao et al., 2013; Ikkai et al., 2010; Luria et al., 2010; Ye et al., 2014). This result is significant because it reveals a dissociation between the low accuracy performance (usually taken as a marker of VWM capacity) and the intact CDA amplitude, and serves as additional evidence that the CDA does not simply reflect the task difficulty. Importantly, this result is in line with claims stating that when complex perceptual information is encoded, the low accuracy in the change detection is the result of an error prone comparison process, and does not reflect the actual VWM representations (Awh et al., 2007). This highlights the importance of the CDA as a reliR. Luria et al. / Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 62 (2016) 100-108



**Fig. 1.** An illustration of a typical change detection trial and the resulting CDA waveforms. This example (adapted from Allon et al., 2014) is a grand average of 20 participants, at the PO7/PO8 electrodes, where the CDA is usually most pronounced. Subjects were presented with 3 colors for 200 ms, and had to memorize them during the 900-ms retention interval. The CDA is time-locked to the onset of the memory array, and the activity is measured throughout the retention interval (resulting, in this example, in a 1100-ms long time-window), but before the onset of the test array. Note that the waveforms include both right and left trials, such that the contralateral activity is generated from *right* electrodes on *right* trials (this is an example of a right trial, and hence PO7 registered contralateral activity and PO8 registered ipsilateral activity). The CDA is the subtraction of ipsilateral activity from contralateral activity.

able marker of the contents of VWM in situations when behavioral measures are not indicative enough.

## 3.1. The CDA as a difference wave

Note that the CDA is calculated as the difference in amplitude between the contralateral side and the ipsilateral side of fixation (defined by an arrow that precedes the stimuli array or by a predefined color, see Fig. 1). The logic is that the amplitude on the ipsilateral side is assumed to reflect mostly low level and early perceptual processing, while the amplitude on the contralateral side reflects both low level processes and VWM related activity. Thus, the subtraction is intended to "clean" the wave from low level processes and local noise (the logic is similar to calculating the N2pc or the LRP). While the underlying assumptions behind the subtraction seem reasonable, it is still possible that there is merit in separately investigating the two raw waves. For example, it is not clear when the contralateral and the ipsilateral are negative or positive, since the CDA only indicates that the contralateral is more negative than the ipsilateral (but both could be positive). We are aware of only one study that separately manipulated the

number of items on each side creating conditions with unequal items on the contralateral and ipsilateral side, in order to investigate whether the number of items on the ipsilateral side affected the CDA on the contralateral side and vice versa. It was found that the number of items on the ipsilateral side affected the contralateral wave only when one item was encoded on the contralateral side. Similarly, the ipsilateral wave amplitude increased in response to items in the contralateral side only when one item was presented on the ipsilateral side, but when more items were presented on the ipsilateral side, its amplitude was not affected by the number of items on the contralateral side (Arend and Zimmer, 2011). In addition, a recent paper successfully correlated the contralateral amplitude with measures of filtering in a change detection task (Liesefeld et al., 2014), but it was not clear whether the CDA difference wave showed better (or worse) correlations. We conclude that more research is needed in order to fully understand the differences between the ipsilateral and contralateral waves, and their underlying cognitive mechanisms.





**Fig. 2.** Meta-analyses of the correlations involving individual CDA amplitude set-size effects. All analyses and computations were carried out using the Comprehensive Meta-Analysis software (Biostat, Inc.), and assumed random effects models (since these are more conservative). For both meta-analyses, each line of the plot represents a single experiment. In the plots, the squares represent each study's obtained correlation and the horizontal lines represent its 95% confidence interval (CI). Square size represents sample size (and the relative weight assigned to that study in the meta-analysis). The bottom line of each plot presents the combined results of all experiments. The gray diamond represents the weighted average correlation, and its width is the 95% CI of the combined effect.

(A) A meta-analysis of the correlation between VWM capacity and the CDA amplitude set-size effect (calculated as a difference between the CDA amplitude of 1 or 2 objects and the amplitude of 3 or 4 objects). Studies were selected through a search in the Google Scholar database using the following keywords: contralateral delay activity or sustained posterior contralateral negativity intersected with capacity and ERP. The inclusion criteria were: (1) publication in the English language; (2) the study measured the CDA for at least 2 different set-sizes, in displays containing only relevant distinctive visual items; (3) the study measured behavioral VWM capacity; (4) the study included a group of normal young adults; (5) the study reported or allowed a calculation of a correlation between the CDA set-size effect (i.e., the difference in amplitude between two set sizes) and behavioral capacity among young adults. The above criteria led to 12 samples from 11 studies, with 286 subjects in total.

The meta-analysis produced a correlation of r = 0.596 (Z = 10.857,  $p < 10^{-26}$ ), with a 95% confidence interval of 0.510–0.670. We calculated a fail-safe number (i.e., the number of studies with an average correlation of r = 0.00 that are required to bring the combined effect down to a marginally-significant level) of 350, suggesting a very robust correlation. The effect was very homogeneous: Q = 10.164 (p = 0.516), Tau-squared = 0.000.

(B) A meta-analysis of the correlation between VWM capacity and the CDA filtering efficiency index, calculated as the difference in CDA amplitude between a distractorpresent condition and a distractor-absent condition (e.g., the difference in amplitude between presenting 2 to-be-remembered items alone, and presenting them along with

## 3.2. Neural origin of the CDA

One important question in VWM research is to detect the brain areas that are responsible for encoding and maintaining online information. fMRI studies have identified the posterior parietal cortex as the main neural locus of VWM (Todd and Marois, 2004; Xu and Chun, 2006), and there have been several attempts to understand the neural origin of the CDA as well. Two MEG studies (Becke et al., 2015; Robitaille et al., 2009) identified parietal cortex regions (as well as regions in the ventral extrastriate cortex that presumably do not contribute to the ERP signal) as the origin of the CDA, which is in line with the fMRI findings. In addition, a study that measured ERP and intracranial activity in monkeys was able to observe the human CDA homolog in the monkeys' ERPs. Intracranial recordings revealed that frontal local field potentials from the frontal eye field and the supplementary eye field contribute to the generation of the CDA measured at parietal-occipital electrodes (although frontal electrodes do not show sustained ERP activity after the contralateral-ipsilateral subtraction). This suggests that multiple sources and regions are involved in maintaining online information.

In terms of the neural mechanisms that can produce a sustained delay activity, it was argued that asymmetric modulation of lateralized alpha activity could generate the CDA activity (Mazaheri and Jensen, 2008; van Dijk et al., 2010). However, a recent work provided convincing evidence that alpha activity and the CDA exhibit different temporal characteristics and when correlated with behavior explain unique variance in performance (Fukuda et al., 2016). Thus, the specific neural mechanism that could produce this slow wave activity is still unknown.

#### 4. Using the CDA to study VWM

The advantages of measuring the CDA (and any other ERP component) is that it can reveal sub-processes underlying VWM that are otherwise impossible to investigate, because behavioral measures reflect only the end result of the processing or are contaminated by processes that are unrelated to VWM. Indeed, since 2004 there is a constant increase in studies tracking the CDA as their dependent measure in various tasks, such as visual search (Emrich et al., 2009; Luria and Vogel, 2011b; Woodman and Arita, 2011), mental rotation (Prime and Jolicoeur, 2010) and dual-tasks (Brisson and Jolicoeur, 2007). Another example that highlights the important advances in VWM made by the CDA is the recent findings demonstrating that similar CDA activity could be observed when the items remain within view (without any retention interval). Contrary to the traditional view that conceptualized working memory as a memory unit (Baddeley, 2003; Cowan, 2001; Jonides et al., 2008; Vogel et al., 2001), this finding demonstrates that VWM is about 'working' (i.e., online processes) rather than 'memory' (Tsubomi et al., 2013).

Broadly speaking, we have identified two methods of using the CDA. The first is to measure the CDA amplitude to investigate whether VWM representations are affected by a certain manipulation, and the second is to associate variability in the CDA to predefined individual characteristics (such as anxiety, age, or the individual VWM capacity).

Another general distinction within studies that tracked the CDA as their dependent variable is between using the "raw" CDA amplitude and using a CDA difference between two experimental conditions. Most of the reviewed studies fall into the second category, presumably because using a difference between experimental conditions allows controlling for various components that add general noise to the amplitude (so that the subtraction itself serve as an additional control). However, at least when simple stimuli are encoded, the raw CDA amplitude successfully correlated with the individual VWM capacity in some cases (Luria and Vogel, 2011b; Voytek and Knight, 2010; Wiegand et al., 2013) and with RT or accuracy in other cases (Carlisle et al., 2011; Gunseli et al., 2014a,b; Woodman and Arita, 2011). We now turn to review evidence from several fields in which the CDA was successfully used in order to increase our understanding of how VWM operates.

#### 4.1. Filtering efficiency

Vogel et al. (2005) compared the CDA amplitude between conditions that included only task relevant items (two or four items), and a filtering condition that included two relevant items and two task irrelevant items. The results indicated that low VWM capacity individuals had difficulties filtering out irrelevant information. Namely, low capacity individuals represented also the task irrelevant information, as reflected by their CDA amplitude in the filtering condition that was similar to the CDA amplitude in the condition with four relevant items. Conversely, high capacity individuals successfully rejected the irrelevant items as was evident in their CDA amplitude in the filtering condition that was similar to the condition with only two relevant items.

Following Vogel et al. (2005), the relation between VWM capacity and filtering efficiency was extensively investigated using the CDA. The significance of such an argument is that it attributes individual differences in VWM capacity to the ability to reject irrelevant information from reaching the limited VWM storage, instead of assuming differences in the actual storage space. The observed correlation between the individual filtering efficiency and VWM capacity is a key finding for this account. We tracked 7 studies that measured the correlation between these variables (Astle et al., 2014; Fukuda and Vogel, 2009; Jost et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2010; Liesefeld et al., 2014; Qi et al., 2014; Vogel et al., 2005), and performed a meta-analysis (see Fig. 2b). The overall correlation was r = 0.478 (95% CI between 0.356 and 0.585), providing strong support that filtering efficiency plays an important role in determining the individual VWM capacity.

#### 4.2. Visual search

Models of visual search attributed an integral role for VWM during the search process that included storing the target template, categorizing, and comparing between the target candidate and the desired template (Bundesen, 1990; Desimone and Duncan, 1995; Duncan and Humphreys, 1989). Despite these arguments, direct behavioral evidence was lacking (Woodman et al., 2001), and only recent research that used the CDA was able to better clarify the role of VWM in visual search.

<sup>2</sup> to-be-ignored items). Hence, when filtering is efficient, a condition containing 2 targets and 2 distractors should be more similar to 2 targets alone (since effectively ignoring the 2 distractors means that only 2 items were maintained in WM), and less similar to 4 targets alone, producing a larger filtering efficiency index.

Studies were selected through a search in the Google Scholar database using the following keywords: contralateral delay activity or sustained posterior contralateral negativity intersected with filtering and ERP. The inclusion criteria were: (1) publication in the English language; (2) the study measured the CDA for at least 2 conditions, one of which included only relevant items, and the other included also some to-be-ignored distractors; (3) the study measured behavioral WM capacity; (4) the study included a group of normal young adults; (5) the study reported or allowed a calculation of a correlation between the CDA filtering-efficiency and behavioral capacity among young adults. The above criteria led to 9 samples from 7 studies, with 200 subjects in total.

The meta-analysis produced a correlation of r = 0.478 (Z = 6.850,  $p < 10^{-10}$ ), with a 95% confidence interval of 0.356–0.585. We calculated a fail-safe number of 114, suggesting a robust correlation. The effect was very homogeneous: Q = 7.786 (p = 0.455), Tau-squared = 0.000.

First, it was demonstrated that the CDA could be observed during the visual search task (Emrich et al., 2009). Following studies showed that high VWM capacity individuals search more efficiently, because they are better at locking on the target and avoid representing distractors, resulting in lower CDA amplitudes relative to low capacity individuals (Luria and Vogel, 2011b). A parallel line of investigation has refined the role of VWM in holding the target template. It was shown that when a new target is presented it is being held in VWM but then gradually moves to LTM. This handoff between VWM and LTM leads to better search efficiency, so that as the CDA amplitude decreased (indicating less involvement of VWM) search RT improved (Carlisle et al., 2011; Schmidt et al., 2014; Woodman and Arita, 2011). The hand-off between VWM and LTM did not depend on the target complexity level, but when the target was associated with a high reward, VWM continued to represent the target, indicating a more controlled search in high reward conditions (Gunseli et al., 2014a,b; Reinhart and Woodman, 2014). Notably, this line of research supports the argument that the CDA tracks the involvement of the ongoing VWM processing involved in preforming visual search tasks.

#### 4.3. Multiple objects tracking

In multiple object tracking (MOT), participants are required to constantly follow moving objects. The CDA amplitude was found to be an excellent predictor of the tracking performance, and was able to capture online changes in the number of tracked objects: when additional items were added during the trial, the CDA amplitude increased according to the actual number of tracked items. Furthermore, the real-time aspects of the CDA were exploited to dissociate different factors influencing task performance: while increasing the speed of the moving objects increased the chances of dropping a target item during the tracking period as was evident in a decrease in the CDA amplitude, increasing the number of distractors led to swapping of a target item with a distractor, affecting the behavioral performance (i.e., lower accuracy performance), leaving the CDA amplitude unchanged (Drew et al., 2013, 2012; Drew and Vogel, 2008).

#### 4.4. Complexity and resolution

The CDA was used to investigate whether VWM representations are sensitive to the object's complexity and to the resolution with which objects are maintained or whether VWM is sensitive only to the number of encoded items. Behavioral evidence is mixed, with some studies indicating that complex objects consume more WM capacity (Alvarez and Cavanagh, 2004), but others providing evidence for intact representations for complex stimuli, attributing the previously reported decrement in performance to processes following VWM retention interval, such as the comparison process (Awh et al., 2007). Studies that measured the CDA amplitude for complex objects such as random polygons showed higher CDA amplitude relative to the same number of colors (Gao et al., 2009; Luria et al., 2010; Luria and Vogel, 2011a). This evidence was interpreted as supporting the resolution view of VWM capacity allocation (Ma et al., 2014), since the amount of VWM resources devoted to an item (as reflected by the CDA amplitude) was found to be a function of the object complexity. However, a recent study demonstrated that while the CDA amplitude for random polygons may increase following task related resolution demands, it could not be decreased to the level of simple items such as colors. In this study (Allon et al., 2014), lowering the resolution demands was manipulated by asking subjects to monitor for a category change (e.g., between a polygon and a color). Thus, there was no need for maintaining any fine detailed information. While this manipulation improved the accuracy performance, the CDA amplitude did not show any

reduction relative to a condition in which the task required encoding the full polygon's resolution. Moreover, a recent study (Balaban and Luria, 2015b) found that one polygon had the same CDA amplitude relative to just half of that polygon, even though a polygon is evidently more complex than its half.

Studies that directly manipulated color resolution also found that it had no effect on the CDA (Ikkai et al., 2010; Luria et al., 2010; Ye et al., 2014) and studies that manipulated orientation resolution reported mixed results (Gao et al., 2011a,b; Machizawa et al., 2012). Note that increasing the number of relevant features within an object did not affect the CDA (Luria and Vogel, 2011a; Woodman and Vogel, 2008). Thus, we conclude that the CDA is not affected by the item's resolution per se.

One option is that VWM devotes more than one slot to items that do not have a LTM trace, in line with some sort of a slot + averaging model (Zhang and Luck, 2008). Thus, polygons show increased CDA activity because they do not have LTM traces, consuming multiple slots in order to be actively represented. Corroborating this argument, it was found the CDA for non-words is higher than the CDA for words (Predovan et al., 2009), so that "complexity" might arise due to the lack of semantic meaning. Another option is that resolution and capacity rely on separate mechanisms (Awh et al., 2007; Ye et al., 2014). The question of whether VWM capacity is allocated flexibly according to the items resolution or is allocated according to the number of objects is still an open question in VWM (Bays et al., 2009; Zhang and Luck, 2011), and the CDA is likely to play an important role in investigating this topic.

# 4.5. Binding and grouping

Most theories agree that working memory capacity is strictly limited (Bays and Husain, 2008; Cowan, 2001; Luck and Vogel, 2013). One way of bypassing this constraint is by uniting several features or objects to form a bound representation that can fit within working memory capacity limits. For the current purpose, we refer to the ability to integrate several features such as color and orientation into a bound object representation as the binding ability (Hommel, 2004; Treisman, 1996), and to the process of integrating several objects into one group, as the grouping ability (Peterson et al., 2015; Woodman et al., 2003). The CDA is ideally suited for investigating binding and grouping because any decrease in the number of maintained objects (for example by grouping 2 items into just one VWM representation) should be followed by a similar decrease in the CDA amplitude.

The question of how we solve the binding problem and integrate several features to perceive a bound object representation has a long history in cognitive research (Treisman, 1996). In the context of VWM, studies using the CDA confirmed that simple features such as color and orientation were easily integrated into one representation. For example, the CDA amplitude of just an orientation was equivalent to the CDA amplitude of a colored orientation, and smaller than an orientation and a color patch presented as separate items, even though this last condition contained the exact information as in the integrated object (Luria and Vogel, 2011a; Woodman and Vogel, 2008). Interestingly, the same trend was observed for random polygons, such that adding a color to a polygon (so that the task required monitoring both color and shape change, instead of just monitoring a shape change) did not further increase the CDA amplitude.

While most evidence suggest that binding a small set of different features is a fast and cost-free process, CDA evidence also suggests that VWM is rather flexible in terms of which object's features are encoded and maintained, indicating that binding may not be an obligatory process (at least under some conditions). For example, when colored random polygons were presented, participants could selectively encode only one of the objects' features but ignoring the other, such that the CDA amplitude was lower when the task required monitoring only the color (the polygon's shape could not change) relative to a condition in which only the shape was the task relevant feature (Luria et al., 2010). Thus, VWM representations as indicating by the CDA amplitude were modulated depending on the relevant task feature, even though identical stimuli were presented across conditions. This reveals the flexible nature of VWM when determining which objects' features to encode in its limited workspace.

The ability to group separate objects into one representation was traditionally studied using Gestalt principles such as similarity, connectedness and common fate. Indeed, several studies investigated how these cues affect working memory representations by measuring the CDA. In the case of similarity, it was found that identical colors were integrated in VWM such that the CDA amplitude for 4 identical colors was comparable to the amplitude of just one color, and both were lower than a condition with four different colors (Gao et al., 2011a,b; Peterson et al., 2015). Recent research that studied the common fate grouping cue, revealed a more complicated picture. While common fate was successful in integrating colors once they moved together (Luria and Vogel, 2014), a distinct color and an orientation were not integrated even when moving together, one on top of another (Balaban and Luria, 2015a). This is evidence that the stimulus type plays a major role in the ability of VWM to group objects.

Moreover, it was shown that other non-perceptual factors affected grouping processes in VMW. One example is that the items' history as moving separately or together affected the grouping ability, such that after an independent movement period, when colored patches shared the same spatial position forming colorcolor conjunction (which can be seen as a strong proximity cue), these color-color conjunctions were not fully integrated, as indicated by the CDA amplitude that was higher than a condition with the same number of simple colors (Luria and Vogel, 2014). The CDA also revealed that object grouping might take time to establish, so that in the case of stationary colors sharing the same position (and also when the colors were connected by a line), the CDA amplitude gradually decreased during the retention interval (Luria and Vogel, 2011a; Peterson et al., 2015). Remarkably, these studies reveal that although Gestalt cues affect VWM representations, they do not cause grouping in a reflexive and 'automatic' manner. Rather, there are several factors such as the stimuli categories and the items recent history (as being separated or grouped) that certainly influence, and could sometimes even override strong Gestalt cues such as common fate. To summarize, the CDA research regarding binding and grouping reveals a more complex and flexible mechanism than just following bottom-up salient objecthood cues.

#### 5. CDA as an index of WMC in special populations

It has been claimed that VWM is impaired in several clinical and sub-clinical populations. Following these arguments, the CDA has been used to characterize the specific deficit in VWM in these special populations. It was demonstrated that the filtering efficiency was impaired in Parkinson patients (Lee et al., 2010), in dysphoriatic individuals (Owens et al., 2012, 2013), in old age (at early stages of processing, Jost et al., 2011) and in anxious individuals (Meconi et al., 2014; Qi et al., 2014; Stout et al., 2013). The filtering deficit for anxious individuals was found when encoding threatening and untrustworthy faces, but also when encoding neutral distractors, which might suggest a general filtering deficit in this case. More general VWM impairments, as evident in a general amplitude difference relative to a control group, were found in Parkinson disease (Lee et al., 2010), schizophrenia (Leonard et al., 2013) and in ALS patients (Zaehle et al., 2013), even when the ALS patients did not show any impaired behavioral performance. Interestingly, the CDA set-size was reduced for older adults at a risk for developing mild cognitive impairments (before exhibiting any severe symptoms) compared to a matched age group (Newsome et al., 2013). Thus, the CDA may be a reliable and potent tool in these special circumstances.

## 6. Summary

We have reviewed evidence supporting that the CDA tracks the online VWM processes related to the task at hand. The CDA amplitude is highly sensitive to the number of represented items. strongly correlates with the individual VWM capacity, and is able to predict performance in a variety of tasks and populations. Findings from numerous CDA studies indicate that VWM capacity is tightly related to filtering ability, explain how VWM is involved when searching targets among distractors and enable observing how the target information is transferred from working memory to LTM. Other results support that VWM capacity allocation follows the number of represented objects rather than the item's complexity, and highlight VWM flexibility when grouping and binding several objects or features. Overall, these results support the idea that the CDA is a valuable tool in any task that involves online processing of visual information. Rather than just following the number of items maintained in VWM, the CDA is a marker for the involvement of working memory online processing and is likely to play a an important role in future investigations of how VWM operates and how it guides behavior.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a grant number 1696/13 from the Israel Science Foundation, and by a grant number 231-13-14 from the National Institute for Psychobiology in Israel given to RL.

#### References

- Allon, A.S., Balaban, H., Luria, R., 2014. How low can you go? Changing the resolution of novel complex objects in visual working memory according to task demands. Front. Psychol. 5, 265, http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014. 00265
- Alvarez, G.A., Cavanagh, P., 2004. The capacity of visual short-term memory is set both by visual information load and by number of objects. Psychol. Sci. 15 (2), 106–111, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14738517.
- Arend, A.M., Zimmer, H.D., 2011. What does ipsilateral delay activity reflect? Inferences from slow potentials in a lateralized visual working memory task. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 23 (12), 4048–4056, http://dx.doi.org/10.1162/jocn\_a\_00068.
- Astle, D.E., Harvey, H., Stokes, M., Mohseni, H., Nobre, A.C., Scerif, G., 2014. Distinct neural mechanisms of individual and developmental differences in VSTM capacity. Dev. Psychobiol. 56 (4), 601–610, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/dev. 21126.
- Awh, E., Barton, B., Vogel, E.K., 2007. Visual working memory represents a fixed number of items regardless of complexity. Psychol. Sci. 18 (7), 622–628, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.01949.x.
- Baddeley, A., 2003. Working memory: looking back and looking forward. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 4 (10), 829–839, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrn1201.
- Balaban, H., Luria, R., 2015a. Integration of distinct objects in visual working memory depends on strong objecthood cues even for different-dimension conjunctions. Cereb. Cortex, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhv038.
- Balaban, H., Luria, R., 2015b. The number of objects determines visual working memory capacity allocation for complex items. Neuroimage 119, 54–62, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.06.051.
- Bays, P.M., Catalao, R.F., Husain, M., 2009. The precision of visual working memory is set by allocation of a shared resource. J. Vis. 9 (10), 1–11, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1167/9.10.7.
- Bays, P.M., Husain, M., 2008. Dynamic shifts of limited working memory resources in human vision. Science 321 (5890), 851–854, http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/ science.1158023.
- Becke, A., Muller, N., Vellage, A., Schoenfeld, M.A., Hopf, J.M., 2015. Neural sources of visual working memory maintenance in human parietal and ventral extrastriate visual cortex. Neuroimage 110, 78–86, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. neuroimage.2015.01.059.
- Brisson, B., Jolicoeur, P., 2007. A psychological refractory period in access to visual short-term memory and the deployment of visual-spatial attention:

multitasking processing deficits revealed by event-related potentials. Psychophysiology 44 (2), 323–333, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986. 2007.00503.x.

Bundesen, C., 1990. A theory of visual attention. Psychol. Rev. 97 (4), 523–547 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2247540.

- Carlisle, N.B., Arita, J.T., Pardo, D., Woodman, G.F., 2011. Attentional templates in visual working memory. J. Neurosci. 31 (25), 9315–9322, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.1097-11.2011.
- Cowan, N., 2001. The magical number 4 in short-term memory: a reconsideration of mental storage capacity. Behav. Brain Sci. 24 (1), 87–114, discussion 114-185 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11515286.
- Desimone, R., Duncan, J., 1995. Neural mechanisms of selective visual attention. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 18, 193–222, http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ne.18. 030195.001205.
- Diamantopoulou, S., Poom, L., Klaver, P., Talsma, D., 2011. Visual working memory capacity and stimulus categories: a behavioral and electrophysiological investigation. Exp. Brain Res. 209 (4), 501–513, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s00221-011-2536-z.
- Drew, T., Horowitz, T.S., Wolfe, J.M., Vogel, E.K., 2012. Neural measures of dynamic changes in attentive tracking load. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 24 (2), 440–450, http://dx. doi.org/10.1162/jocn.a.00107.
- Drew, T., Horowitz, T.S., Vogel, E.K., 2013. Swapping or dropping? Electrophysiological measures of difficulty during multiple object tracking. Cognition 126 (2), 213–223, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cognition.2012.10.003.
- Drew, T., Vogel, E.K., 2008. Neural measures of individual differences in selecting and tracking multiple moving objects. J. Neurosci. 28 (16), 4183–4191, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1523/INEUROSCI.0556-08.2008.
- Duncan, J., Humphreys, G.W., 1989. Visual search and stimulus similarity. Psychol. Rev. 96 (3), 433–458 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2756067.
- Emrich, S.M., Al-Aidroos, N., Pratt, J., Ferber, S., 2009. Visual search elicits the electrophysiological marker of visual working memory. PLoS One 4 (11), e8042, http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0008042.
- Fukuda, K., Vogel, E.K., 2009. Human variation in overriding attentional capture. J. Neurosci. 29 (27), 8726–8733, http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2145-09. 2009.
- Fukuda, K., Vogel, E., Mayr, U., Awh, E., 2010. Quantity, not quality: the relationship between fluid intelligence and working memory capacity. Psychon. Bull. Rev. 17 (5), 673–679, http://dx.doi.org/10.3758/17.5.673.
- Fukuda, K., Mance, I., Vogel, E.K., 2015. Alpha power modulation and event-related slow wave provide dissociable correlates of visual working memory. J. Neurosci. 35 (41), 14009–14016.
- Gao, Z., Li, J., Liang, J., Chen, H., Yin, J., Shen, M., 2009. Storing fine detailed information in visual working memory—evidence from event-related potentials. J. Vis. 9 (7), 17, http://dx.doi.org/10.1167/9.7.17.
- Gao, Z., Xu, X., Chen, Z., Yin, J., Shen, M., Shui, R., 2011a. Contralateral delay activity tracks object identity information in visual short term memory. Brain Res. 1406, 30–42, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2011.06.049.
- Gao, Z., Yin, J., Xu, H., Shui, R., Shen, M., 2011b. Tracking object number or information load in visual working memory: revisiting the cognitive implication of contralateral delay activity. Biol. Psychol. 87 (2), 296–302, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2011.03.013.
- Gao, Z., Ding, X., Yang, T., Liang, J., Shui, R., 2013. Coarse-to-fine construction for high-resolution representation in visual working memory. PLoS One 8 (2), e57913, http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057913.
- Gunseli, E., Meeter, M., Olivers, C.N., 2014a. Is a search template an ordinary working memory? Comparing electrophysiological markers of working memory maintenance for visual search and recognition. Neuropsychologia 60C, 29–38, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2014.05.012.
- Gunseli, E., Olivers, C.N., Meeter, M., 2014b. Effects of search difficulty on the selection maintenance, and learning of attentional templates. J. Cogn. Neurosci., 1–13, http://dx.doi.org/10.1162/jocn\_a.00600.
- Hommel, B., 2004. Event files: feature binding in and across perception and action. Trends Cogn. Sci. 8 (11), 494–500, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2004.08.007. Ikkai, A., McCollough, A.W., Vogel, E.K., 2010. Contralateral delay activity provides
- Ikkai, A., McCollough, A.W., Vogel, E.K., 2010. Contralateral delay activity provides a neural measure of the number of representations in visual working memory. J. Neurophysiol. 103 (4), 1963–1968, http://dx.doi.org/10.1152/jn.00978.2009.
- Jonides, J., Lewis, R.L., Nee, D.E., Lustig, C.A., Berman, M.G., Moore, K.S., 2008. The mind and brain of short-term memory. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 59, 193–224, http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093615.
- Jost, K., Bryck, R.L., Vogel, E.K., Mayr, U., 2011. Are old adults just like low working memory young adults? Filtering efficiency and age differences in visual working memory. Cereb. Cortex 21 (5), 1147–1154, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ cercor/bha185.
- Kang, M.S., Woodman, G.F., 2014. The neurophysiological index of visual working memory maintenance is not due to load dependent eye movements. Neuropsychologia 56, 63–72, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia. 2013.12.028.
- Klaver, P., Talsma, D., Wijers, A.A., Heinze, H.J., Mulder, G., 1999. An event-related brain potential correlate of visual short-term memory. Neuroreport 10 (10), 2001–2005 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10424664.
- Kundu, B., Sutterer, D.W., Emrich, S.M., Postle, B.R., 2013. Strengthened effective connectivity underlies transfer of working memory training to tests of short-term memory and attention. J. Neurosci. 33 (20), 8705–8715, http://dx. doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5565-12.2013.

- Kuo, B.C., Stokes, M.G., Nobre, A.C., 2012. Attention modulates maintenance of representations in visual short-term memory. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 24 (1), 51–60, http://dx.doi.org/10.1162/jocn.a.00087.
- Lee, E.Y., Cowan, N., Vogel, E.K., Rolan, T., Valle-Inclan, F., Hackley, S.A., 2010. Visual working memory deficits in patients with Parkinson's disease are due to both reduced storage capacity and impaired ability to filter out irrelevant information. Brain 133 (9), 2677–2689, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/brain/ awq197.
- Lefebvre, C., Vachon, F., Grimault, S., Thibault, J., Guimond, S., Peretz, I., Jolicoeur, P., 2013. Distinct electrophysiological indices of maintenance in auditory and visual short-term memory. Neuropsychologia 51 (13), 2939–2952, http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2013.08.003.
- Leonard, C.J., Kaiser, S.T., Robinson, B.M., Kappenman, E.S., Hahn, B., Gold, J.M., Luck, S.J., 2013. Toward the neural mechanisms of reduced working memory capacity in schizophrenia. Cereb. Cortex 23 (7), 1582–1592, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1093/cercor/bhs148.
- Liesefeld, A.M., Liesefeld, H.R., Zimmer, H.D., 2014. Intercommunication between prefrontal and posterior brain regions for protecting visual working memory from distractor interference. Psychol. Sci. 25 (2), 325–333, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1177/0956797613501170.
- Luck, S.J., Vogel, E.K., 2013. Visual working memory capacity: from psychophysics and neurobiology to individual differences. Trends Cogn. Sci. 17 (8), 391–400, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2013.06.006.
- Luria, R., Sessa, P., Gotler, A., Jolicoeur, P., Dell'Acqua, R., 2010. Visual short-term memory capacity for simple and complex objects. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 22 (3), 496–512, http://dx.doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2009.21214.
- Luria, R., Vogel, E.K., 2011a. Shape and color conjunction stimuli are represented as bound objects in visual working memory. Neuropsychologia 49 (6), 1632–1639, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.11.031.
- Luria, R., Vogel, E.K., 2011b. Visual search demands dictate reliance on working memory storage. J. Neurosci. 31 (16), 6199–6207, http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.6453-10.2011.
- Luria, R., Vogel, E.K., 2014. Come together, right now: dynamic overwriting of an object's history through common fate. J. Cogn. Neurosci., http://dx.doi.org/10. 1162/jocn\_a\_00584.
- Ma, W.J., Husain, M., Bays, P.M., 2014. Changing concepts of working memory. Nat. Neurosci. 17 (3), 347–356, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nn.3655.
- Machizawa, M.G., Goh, C.C., Driver, J., 2012. Human visual short-term memory precision can be varied at will when the number of retained items is low. Psychol. Sci. 23 (6), 554–559, http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0956797611431988.
- Mazaheri, A., Jensen, O., 2008. Asymmetric amplitude modulations of brain oscillations generate slow evoked responses. J. Neurosci. 28 (31), 7781–7787, http://dx.doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1631-08.2008.
- McCollough, A.W., Machizawa, M.G., Vogel, E.K., 2007. Electrophysiological measures of maintaining representations in visual working memory. Cortex 43 (1), 77–94 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17334209.
- Meconi, F., Luria, R., Sessa, P., 2014. Individual differences in anxiety predict neural measures of visual working memory for untrustworthy faces. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci., http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/scan/nst189.
- Newsome, R.N., Pun, C., Smith, V.M., Ferber, S., Barense, M.D., 2013. Neural correlates of cognitive decline in older adults at-risk for developing MCI: evidence from the CDA and P300. Cogn. Neurosci. 4 (3–4), 152–162, http://dx. doi.org/10.1080/17588928.2013.853658.

Orwin, R.G., 1983. A fail-safe N for effect size in meta-analysis. J. Educ. Stat. 8 (2), 3.

- Owens, M., Koster, E.H., Derakshan, N., 2012. Impaired filtering of irrelevant information in dysphoria: an ERP study. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 7 (7), 752–763, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsr050.
- Owens, M., Koster, E.H., Derakshan, N., 2013. Improving attention control in dysphoria through cognitive training: transfer effects on working memory capacity and filtering efficiency. Psychophysiology 50 (3), 297–307, http://dx. doi.org/10.1111/psyp.12010.
- Perron, R., Lefebvre, C., Robitaille, N., Brisson, B., Gosselin, F., Arguin, M., Jolicoeur, P., 2009. Attentional and anatomical considerations for the representation of simple stimuli in visual short-term memory: evidence from human electrophysiology. Psychol. Res. 73 (2), 222–232, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s00426-008-0214-y.
- Peterson, D.J., Gozenman, F., Arciniega, H., Berryhill, M.E., 2015. Contralateral delay activity tracks the influence of Gestalt grouping principles on active visual working memory representations. Atten. Percept. Psychophys., http://dx.doi. org/10.3758/s13414-015-0929-y.
- Predovan, D., Prime, D., Arguin, M., Gosselin, F., Dell'acqua, R., Jolicoeur, P., 2009. On the representation of words and nonwords in visual short-term memory: evidence from human electrophysiology. Psychophysiology 46 (1), 191–199, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.2008.00753.x.
- Prime, D.J., Jolicoeur, P., 2010. Mental rotation requires visual short-term memory: evidence from human electric cortical activity. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 22 (11), 2437–2446, http://dx.doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2009.21337.
- Qi, S., Ding, C., Li, H., 2014. Neural correlates of inefficient filtering of emotionally neutral distractors from working memory in trait anxiety. Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci. 14 (1), 253–265, http://dx.doi.org/10.3758/s13415-013-0203-5.
- Reinhart, R.M., Woodman, G.F., 2014. High stakes trigger the use of multiple memories to enhance the control of attention. Cereb. Cortex 24 (8), 2022–2035, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bht057.
- Robitaille, N., Grimault, S., Jolicoeur, P., 2009. Bilateral parietal and contralateral responses during maintenance of unilaterally encoded objects in visual short-term memory: evidence from magnetoencephalography.

Psychophysiology 46 (5), 1090–1099, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986. 2009.00837.x.

- Ruchkin, D.S., Johnson Jr., R., Canoune, H., Ritter, W., 1990. Short-term memory storage and retention: an event-related brain potential study. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 76 (5), 419–439 http://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pubmed/1699736.
- Ruchkin, D.S., Johnson Jr., R., Grafman, J., Canoune, H., Ritter, W., 1992. Distinctions and similarities among working memory processes: an event-related potential study. Brain Res. Cogn. Brain Res. 1 (1), 53–66 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/15497435.
- Schmidt, J., MacNamara, A., Proudfit, G.H., Zelinsky, G.J., 2014. More target features in visual working memory leads to poorer search guidance: evidence from contralateral delay activity. J. Vis. 14 (3), 8, http://dx.doi.org/10.1167/14.3.8.
- Stormer, V.S., Li, S.C., Heekeren, H.R., Lindenberger, U., 2013. Normative shifts of cortical mechanisms of encoding contribute to adult age differences in visual-spatial working memory. Neuroimage 73, 167–175, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2013.02.004.
- Stout, D.M., Shackman, A.J., Larson, C.L., 2013. Failure to filter: anxious individuals show inefficient gating of threat from working memory. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 7, 58, http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00058.
- Todd, J.J., Marois, R., 2004. Capacity limit of visual short-term memory in human posterior parietal cortex. Nature 428 (6984), 751–754, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1038/nature02466.
- Treisman, A., 1996. The binding problem. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 6 (2), 171–178 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8725958.
- Tsubomi, H., Fukuda, K., Watanabe, K., Vogel, E.K., 2013. Neural limits to representing objects still within view. J. Neurosci. 33 (19), 8257–8263, http:// dx.doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5348–12.2013.
- Unsworth, N., Fukuda, K., Awh, E., Vogel, E.K., 2014. Working memory delay activity predicts individual differences in cognitive abilities. J. Cogn. Neurosci., 1–13, http://dx.doi.org/10.1162/jocn\_a.00765.
- van Dijk, H., van der Werf, J., Mazaheri, A., Medendorp, W.P., Jensen, O., 2010. Modulations in oscillatory activity with amplitude asymmetry can produce cognitively relevant event-related responses. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107 (2), 900–905, http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0908821107.
- Vogel, E.K., Machizawa, M.G., 2004. Neural activity predicts individual differences in visual working memory capacity. Nature 428 (6984), 748–751, http://dx.doi. org/10.1038/nature02447.
- Vogel, E.K., Woodman, G.F., Luck, S.J., 2001. Storage of features, conjunctions and objects in visual working memory. J. Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 27 (1), 92–114 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11248943.

- Vogel, E.K., McCollough, A.W., Machizawa, M.G., 2005. Neural measures reveal individual differences in controlling access to working memory. Nature 438 (7067), 500–503, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature04171.
- Voytek, B., Knight, R.T., 2010. Prefrontal cortex and basal ganglia contributions to visual working memory. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107 (42), 18167–18172, http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1007277107.
- Wiegand, I., Tollner, T., Habekost, T., Dyrholm, M., Muller, H.J., Finke, K., 2013. Distinct neural markers of TVA-based visual processing speed and short-term storage capacity parameters. Cereb. Cortex, http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/cercor/ bht071.
- Woodman, G.F., Arita, J.T., 2011. Direct electrophysiological measurement of attentional templates in visual working memory. Psychol. Sci. 22 (2), 212–215, http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0956797610395395.
- Woodman, G.F., Vogel, E.K., 2008. Selective storage and maintenance of an object's features in visual working memory. Psychon. Bull. Rev. 15 (1), 223–229 http:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18605507.
- Woodman, G.F., Vogel, E.K., Luck, S.J., 2001. Visual search remains efficient when visual working memory is full. Psychol. Sci. 12 (3), 219–224 http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11437304.
- Woodman, G.F., Vecera, S.P., Luck, S.J., 2003. Perceptual organization influences visual working memory. Psychon. Bull. Rev. 10 (1), 80–87 http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12747493.
- Xu, Y., Chun, M.M., 2006. Dissociable neural mechanisms supporting visual short-term memory for objects. Nature 440 (7080), 91–95, http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1038/nature04262.
- Ye, C., Zhang, L., Liu, T., Li, H., Liu, Q., 2014. Visual working memory capacity for color is independent of representation resolution. PLoS One 9 (3), e91681, http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0091681.
- Zaehle, T., Becke, A., Naue, N., Machts, J., Abdulla, S., Petri, S., Muller, N.G., 2013. Working memory in ALS patients: preserved performance but marked changes in underlying neuronal networks. PLoS One 8 (8), e71973, http://dx.doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0071973.
- Zhang, W., Luck, S.J., 2008. Discrete fixed-resolution representations in visual working memory. Nature 453 (7192), 233–235, http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ nature06860.
- Zhang, W., Luck, S.J., 2011. The number and quality of representations in working memory. Psychol. Sci. 22 (11), 1434–1441, http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/ 0956797611417006.